THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In the Court of Appeals

---

APPEAL FROM RICHLAND COUNTY  
Court of Common Pleas

The Honorable Robert E. Hood, Circuit Court Judge

---

Appellate Case No. 2020-000581

---

**RECEIVED**

**Jan 04 2021**

**SC Court of Appeals**

Harland Jones.....Appellant,

v.

Karen Robinson .....Respondent.

---

**FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT**

---

Wallace K. Lightsey (S.C. Bar No. 6476)  
Meliah Bowers Jefferson (S.C. Bar No. 74064)  
WYCHE, P.A.  
Post Office Box 728  
Greenville, SC 29602-0728  
(864) 242-8200

John C. Moylan, III (S.C. Bar No. 11227)  
WYCHE, P.A.  
Post Office Box 12247  
Columbia, SC 29211  
(803) 254-6542

## STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

This appeal arises from a sanctions order dismissing Appellant Harland Jones' Complaint and ordering Mr. Jones' counsel to pay all attorney's fees and costs incurred during the entire litigation by Respondent Karen Robinson. Mr. Jones initiated this action after he suffered a catastrophic injury when he was hit by Respondent's vehicle while riding his bicycle. As a result of the collision, he sustained a head injury, broken bones, and more than \$240,000.00 in medical bills. In pursuing his claims, Mr. Jones has maintained that he believed there were witnesses to the collision and provided what little information he had about the witnesses. However, his attorneys were never able to locate the witnesses that Mr. Jones described. Additionally, Mr. Jones' lead counsel did not attend the mediation of the matter but sent another attorney in his firm instead. Rather than litigating on the merits, Respondent's counsel concocted a narrative of alleged discovery abuse and rules violations that the record clearly shows to be fictitious and without factual support. After a full trial on Mr. Jones' claims ended in a mistrial, Respondent used this false narrative to convince the circuit court to order the most severe sanctions available against Mr. Jones and his counsel. The order dismissed Mr. Jones' claims with prejudice and required his counsel to pay approximately \$30,000.00 in fees and costs.

This appeal raises the following issues for review by this Court:

1. Did the circuit court err in granting Respondent's Motion for Sanctions where the motion was based on mis-statements of fact and there was no factual support in the record for the ruling?
2. Did the circuit court err in granting Respondent's Motion for Sanctions where the sanctions imposed were grossly disproportionate to the alleged misconduct and inconsistent with South Carolina law reserving the most severe sanctions for only the most egregious cases?

3. Did the circuit court exceed its authority in ordering Mr. Jones' counsel to pay all of Respondent's attorney's fees and costs?

### **STATEMENT OF THE CASE**

This case began as rather routine litigation arising out of a collision between Mr. Jones' bicycle and Respondent's automobile. Mr. Jones, a relatively unsophisticated plaintiff with very limited education, initiated this action after he suffered a catastrophic injury when he was hit by Respondent's vehicle while riding his bicycle. Respondent initially answered the Complaint but later filed an Amended Answer and Counterclaim ("Counterclaim") on May 22, 2018, asserting a cause of action for negligence against Mr. Jones and seeking recovery for her own alleged damages. Respondent also asserted a claim under the South Carolina Frivolous Proceedings Act, S.C. Code Ann. § 15-36-10(A)(4) for Mr. Jones having filed the case in the first instance.

During discovery, the parties became entangled in a dispute about Mr. Jones' alleged failure to disclose eyewitnesses to the accident. Although Mr. Jones believed that there were witnesses to support his case, he did not have the names, addresses, or any other contact information for them at the time he made his initial and supplemental responses to Respondent's discovery requests. At his deposition, Mr. Jones noted that he believed there were two possible witnesses. However, he was only able to recall the assumed name of one of them, an acquaintance known to him as "Alex," and testified that he did not know Alex's real name and could only identify his possible residence as a shack in the woods without reference to any particular address or landmarks. In regard to the other potential witness, he noted that he did not know her but did recall that his deceased wife had referred to the woman as her cousin. Despite Mr. Jones' inability to recall and lack of knowledge regarding any meaningful identification of the witnesses, Respondent sought to compel the disclosure of the information and pursued sanctions against Mr.

Jones for his failure to provide the information – information that neither Mr. Jones nor his counsel possessed.

Well before the case went to trial, Mr. Jones conceded that he could not identify the witnesses, as he had previously hoped to have in support of his case. However, Respondent unfairly portrayed Mr. Jones' inability to identify the witnesses as a willful refusal to identify the witnesses. Based on her counsel's arguments regarding the factual and procedural history of the case, Respondent secured several favorable rulings from the circuit court on the discovery issue, including the exclusion of any witnesses at trial in support of Mr. Jones' case other than Mr. Jones, himself, not simply the witnesses that had been the subject of her motion practice.<sup>1</sup>

The trial in this matter began on August 13, 2018, before the Honorable Casey Manning. Despite having already secured the sanction of exclusion of Mr. Jones' witnesses, Respondent further argued during pretrial motions that she was also entitled to monetary sanctions against Mr. Jones for alleged discovery abuse. Judge Manning deferred his ruling on the motion to the end of the trial. After granting Mr. Jones' motion for a directed verdict on the issue of negligence *per se*, Judge Manning declared a mistrial due to Respondent's counsel's improper reference to a collateral source during summations. The jury was dismissed and the record closed without Respondent raising any complaint about a mediation violation or renewing her request for monetary sanctions. Additionally, Respondent never pursued any post-trial motions seeking a ruling from Judge Manning on the issue of sanctions.

---

<sup>1</sup> Prior to trial, Mr. Jones sought to substitute his current caretaker as a damages witness concerning the effect of the injury from the accident on Mr. Jones in place of his deceased wife. He also disclosed the information about the woman he believed to be the one he previously referenced as his wife's cousin, but he never sought to present her as a witness because the information was not sufficient to locate her.

On September 27, 2019, Respondent's Motion for Sanctions was heard by the Honorable Robert Hood, Jr. In the pursuit of sanctions, Respondent's counsel continued to advance arguments regarding Mr. Jones' and his counsel's alleged discovery abuses and violation of court orders. Judge Hood adopted Ms. Robinson's factual and legal arguments to dismiss the Complaint with prejudice. Judge Hood further ordered Mr. Jones's counsel to pay all of Respondent's attorney's fees and costs. *See* (R. pp. 23-45) ("Initial Sanctions Order").

Mr. Jones sought reconsideration of Judge Hood's ruling, which the judge substantially denied on March 2, 2020. *See* (R. pp. 46-70) (together with the March 23<sup>rd</sup> amendment, the "Final Sanctions Order"). At the invitation of the court, Respondent submitted an affidavit for additional attorney's fees accrued in responding to Mr. Jones' motion for reconsideration, and the circuit court further amended its Final Sanctions Order on March 23, 2020, to increase the amount of monetary sanctions against Mr. Jones' counsel. Mr. Jones filed his Notice of Appeal on April 2, 2020.

### **STATEMENT OF THE FACTS**

On June 7, 2017, Mr. Jones was riding his bicycle in the eastbound direction on Old Bluff Road in Columbia, South Carolina. At the same time, Respondent was travelling westbound on the same road in her gray sedan. It is undisputed that Respondent hit Mr. Jones with her vehicle at some point after he signaled to make a left turn. Mr. Jones was propelled from his bicycle upon impact resulting in significant injuries, an extended hospital stay, a considerable period of post-hospitalization recovery, medical bills of approximately one quarter of a million dollars, and significant residual health deficiencies.

Mr. Jones filed a Complaint asserting claims of negligence and negligence *per se* against Respondent. (R. pp. 74-80) The Complaint lays out Mr. Jones' version of events and includes

various theories of liability against Respondent. In part, the Complaint alleged “[t]hat, at the time of the subject incident, [Respondent] unlawfully attempted to pass a vehicle immediately in front of her” and “crossed over into [Mr. Jones’] lane of travel” causing him to “strike the front of [Respondent’s] vehicle.” (R. p. 77, ¶¶ 8-10) In addition to this unlawful passing theory, the Complaint alleges other theories including:

That the collision and the resulting injuries and damages to Plaintiff were caused, directly and proximately, by one or more of the following negligent, grossly negligent, negligent per se, careless, reckless, willful, wanton and unlawful acts, and/or omissions of Defendant in any one or more of the following respects:

\*\*\*

- e. In failing to keep a safe distance from Plaintiff;
- f. In failing to use due care;

\*\*\*

- l. In operating her vehicle without using due care and without regard for safety and rights of Plaintiff;
- m. In operating her vehicle in a negligent, grossly negligent, careless, reckless, willful, wanton, and unlawful manner so as to create a dangerous situation;
- n. In failing to exercise the degree of care and caution that a reasonable and prudent person would have exercised under the circumstances then and there prevailing;
- o. In negligently and carelessly operating her vehicle in such a manner as to cause her vehicle to strike Plaintiff and cause personal injuries and property damage to Plaintiff;
- p. In driving while distracted;
- q. In any other acts that represent a breach of the statutory or common laws of the State of South Carolina; and
- r. In any other such manner that Plaintiff may become aware of through discovery and/or at trial.

(R. pp. 77-78, ¶ 13)

Thus, consistent with general practice and custom in automobile collision cases, Mr. Jones' Complaint advances several different but related theories of liability. However, very early in this case, Respondent decided to focus almost exclusively on Mr. Jones' unlawful passing theory.

Since the inception of this litigation, Mr. Jones has consistently attested of his own personal knowledge that he displayed the proper hand signal indicating his intention to turn left prior to actually doing so. He also recalled being prompted to complete his turn by a woman driving a blue car and that two other vehicles were following behind the blue car. Based on Mr. Jones' recollection of the accident, his counsel presented the unlawful passing theory as a reasonable explanation why Respondent, who was driving a gray car, ended up colliding with Mr. Jones rather than the blue car in front of which he believed he had turned. Based on this limited information, Mr. Jones' counsel hoped that they could identify and locate witnesses to corroborate Mr. Jones' version of events. That turned out not to be the case.

In her Counterclaim, Respondent alleged a claim for negligence against Mr. Jones founded, in part, upon her allegation that she "was lawfully operating her motor vehicle at the time of the collision." (R. p. 90, ¶ 38) She further alleged that "[Mr. Jones] suddenly and without warning turned left directly into the path of [her] car." *Id.* at ¶ 40. Respondent insisted that "[she] had no warning of [Mr. Jones'] illegal left turn." *Id.* at ¶ 44. Therefore, she claimed:

As a direct and proximate result of the negligence, gross negligence, carelessness, recklessness, willfulness, and/or wantonness of [Mr. Jones], as is more fully set forth herein, [Respondent] has been damaged and/or injured in the following respects:

- a. [Respondent] may be required to expend significant amounts of money for care, treatment, services, and other needs
- b. Upon information and belief, the nature of [Respondent's] injuries and damages may require her to expend significant sums of money in the future
- c. [Respondent] may have lost wages, past or future, as a result of [Mr. Jones'] negligence

- d. Upon information and belief, [Mr. Jones'] negligence may deprive [Respondent] of opportunity and income in the future
- e. The pain and shock of the injuries and/or damages inflicted by [Mr. Jones] has resulted in loss of enjoyment of life and/or changes in personality all to the detriment of her health and/or well-being
- f. [Respondent] was required to expend significant sums of money to replace and repair property damage caused by [Mr. Jones] in the accident . . .

(R. p. 93-94, ¶55) Respondent also asserted a cause of action under the Frivolous Proceedings Act

because:

the facts as set out [in her pleading] show that [Mr. Jones] turned his vehicle directly into oncoming traffic with no warning or explanation and that [Mr. Jones] was the sole proximate cause of the accident in question. No reasonable attorney could infer from those facts after any reasonable investigation, required by our Rules, that [Respondent] was negligent or at fault in the accident complained of.

[Mr. Jones] has no good faith factual basis for the allegations contained in the Summons and Complaint. A reasonable investigation of [Mr. Jones'] own actions and conviction in this accident would have revealed this information and, upon so finding, no reasonable attorney would initiate suit against [Respondent] and/or no reasonable attorney would believe the allegations raised in the Summons and Complaint are reasonably supported by the actual facts.

(R. p. 96, ¶¶ 65-66)

As is common in defensive pleadings, Respondent alleged every conceivable defense and pled her Counterclaim so as to preserve any and every possible element of damages that might be available to mitigate or offset any potential liability to Mr. Jones. Notably, despite her own knowledge that she was not wearing her glasses as required by the conditions of her license at the time of the accident, Respondent denied that she was negligent in any way and asserted that she was operating her vehicle lawfully. Additionally, while she claimed to have incurred damages other than the property damage to her car – from lost wages to detrimental impact on her health and well-being – Respondent has never presented any evidence in support of the same.

On May 29, 2018, Mr. Jones moved to dismiss Respondent's Frivolous Proceedings Act claim on the basis that it was premature. *See* (R. pp. 110) ("Motion to Dismiss") (noting that "pursuant to the terms of Section 15-36-10(C)(1), relief under the Act must be sought at the conclusion of the trial by way of motion") (emphasis omitted). In explaining that discovery was in its infancy, Mr. Jones' Motion to Dismiss further noted

Here, discovery in this matter is now underway with Defendant's responses to Plaintiff's First Set of Requests for Admission having been received by Plaintiff on May 21, 2018, and Defendant's first set of discovery requests to Plaintiff having been received by Plaintiff on May 10, 2018. Given that discovery is in its infancy, Defendant's assertion that Plaintiff's claim is one of frivolity is unsupported and inappropriate, both in fact and in law. In fact, under the Act and the cases inquiring as to the scope and applicability of same, Defendant's Counterclaim is expressly prohibited under the Act and must be sought at the conclusion of the trial by way of motion. This matter is not close to trial; rather, discovery is only now underway. Upon information and belief, discovery in this case is expected to reveal witnesses to the events giving rise to the subject motor vehicle collision who believe that Defendant was speeding, that Defendant was not paying attention to the roadway at the time of the subject collision, and/or that Defendant unlawfully attempted to unlawfully pass a vehicle immediately in front of her at the time she (Defendant) unlawfully caused Plaintiff to strike Defendant's vehicle.

(R. p. 111) (emphasis added and omitted). This language expressly provided that discovery had not yet revealed the identity of such witnesses, but rather that Mr. Jones "expected" it would.

Mr. Jones succinctly stated that the issue raised by his motion was "whether the [Frivolous Procedures] Act creates an independent cause of action that may be pled by a party in a pending lawsuit [because] several sections of the Act indicate that the procedural mechanism for triggering enforcement of the Act is by motion." (R. p. 109) Furthermore, Mr. Jones ended his Motion to Dismiss by summarizing that "Defendant's Counterclaim under the Act is simply premature as a matter of procedure and a matter of law. Consequently, Defendant's Counterclaim under the Act should be dismissed." (R. p. 112) Notably, Respondent never moved to dismiss Mr. Jones' Complaint despite her position that it lacked plausibility.

When Mr. Jones' Motion to Dismiss was filed, Respondent was delinquent with her discovery responses. (R. pp. 117-23) Mr. Jones initiated written discovery on April 12, 2018, by serving Respondent with interrogatories, requests for the production of documents, and requests to admit certain facts simultaneously with the Complaint. (R. pp. 117) However, Respondent failed to respond to the interrogatories or requests for the production. *Id.* Accordingly, Mr. Jones inquired about the overdue responses by consultation letter in accordance with Rule 11, and Respondent eventually responded to the discovery requests on June 29, 2018.<sup>2</sup> *Id.*

Likewise, Respondent served Mr. Jones with her initial set of interrogatories and requests for production of documents on May 8, 2018. (R. pp. 113-14) Admittedly, Mr. Jones was late in responding to Respondent's initial discovery requests, as was Respondent. Therefore, Respondent filed a Notice of Motion and Motion to Compel Discovery on August 10, 2018. *Id.* The only subject of the First Motion to Compel was Mr. Jones' failure to respond to Respondent's initial set of interrogatories and requests for production of documents.

### **Hearing With Judge Benjamin**

The hearing on Mr. Jones' Motion to Dismiss and Respondent's First Motion to Compel occurred on October 1, 2018, before the Honorable DeAndrea Benjamin. (R. pp. 462-88) Although Mr. Jones had already served his responses to the discovery requests that were relevant to the First Motion to Compel, including a listing of the witnesses for which he had information and several thousand pages of documents, Respondent nonetheless proceeded with her First Motion to Compel. (R. pp. 465-66) The crux of her argument was that Mr. Jones had yet to respond to additional discovery served on August 14, 2018, after she filed the First Motion to Compel. *See*

---

<sup>2</sup> Ms. Robinson also failed to serve a timely response to Mr. Jones' Second Set of Interrogatories to Defendant. *See* (R. pp. 124-25)

(R. pp. 217-20) (“Supplementary Discovery”). This Supplemental Discovery specifically sought the identity of and contact information for the witnesses expected to be revealed by discovery as referenced in Mr. Jones’ Motion to Dismiss. *Id.* Mr. Jones conceded that the response to the Supplemental Discovery was past due, and Judge Benjamin issued a Form 4 order instructing him to respond within 20 days. (R. pp. 1-2) Unfortunately, Mr. Jones did not have sufficient information to be able to identify the witnesses, and he conceded as much in his response to the Supplemental Discovery on November 7, 2018. (R. pp. 225-26)

During the October 1<sup>st</sup> hearing, Judge Benjamin also addressed Mr. Jones’ Motion to Dismiss. Mr. Jones argued for dismissal of the Frivolous Procedures Act claim on procedural grounds. (R. pp. 471-73) Particularly, Mr. Jones’ counsel asserted that a claim under the Frivolous Procedures Act could only be brought by motion and was improperly raised as a counterclaim by Respondent. *Id.* As additional grounds for dismissal, he also argued that there was a genuine dispute regarding how the accident occurred and, therefore, the claim could not be frivolous. (R. pp. 473-76). In support of this argument, counsel recounted to Judge Benjamin Respondent’s version of the accident – specifically, that “bicyclist, Mr. Jones, turned suddenly and without warning . . . right in front of me, there was nothing I could do, I hit him.” (R. p. 473) He also presented Mr. Jones’ version of events including that Mr. Jones “did not turn in front of the Defendant, whether suddenly or not.” *Id.* He concluded his argument by noting that Respondent’s own witness confirmed that “Mr. Jones signaled for a left turn before he was hit.” (R. p. 474) At no time did Mr. Jones present any argument to Judge Benjamin that relied on any witnesses yet to be identified.

Judge Benjamin issued her Order Granting Plaintiff’s Motion to Dismiss Frivolous Civil Proceedings Sanctions Act Counterclaim Without Prejudice on October 9, 2018 (“Benjamin

Order”) on the basis that it was improperly and prematurely asserted as a counterclaim rather than by motion. (R. pp. 4-7) The Benjamin Order found that:

the Frivolous Civil Proceedings Sanctions Act (“Act”) does not provide for an independent cause of action which may be brought by counterclaim. Accordingly, Plaintiff’s Motion to Dismiss Defendant’s Counterclaim must be, and hereby is, GRANTED. Defendant’s Counterclaim is dismissed without prejudice to Defendant’s rights under the Act, if any, to seek relief in the future.

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