THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In The Court of Appeals

---

APPEAL FROM RICHLAND COUNTY  
Court of Common Pleas

---

Appeal No.: 2020-000581

---

**RECEIVED**

**Sep 23 2020**

**SC Court of Appeals**

Harland Jones,.....Appellant,

v.

Karen Robinson, .....Respondent.

---

**INITIAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT**

---

MCANGUS GOUDELOCK AND COURIE

Brett H. Bayne

Sterling G. Davies

Michael M. Trask

Post Office Box 12519

1320 Main Street, 10<sup>th</sup> Floor (29201)

Columbia, South Carolina 29211

Helen F. Hiser

Post Office Box 650007

735 Johnnie Dodds Blvd (29464)

Mount Pleasant, South Carolina 29465

**

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

done: provide full name, address, and contract information for the two eyewitnesses who could not be found.” (*Id.*, pp. 10, 11). Plaintiff argued that the sanction of dismissing his Complaint was too severe under the circumstances and that the only reason mediation failed was due to Defendant’s “bad acts.” Plaintiff again repeatedly, and incorrectly, alleged that the scope of Judge Couch’s Order exceeded “the scope of the understanding that Plaintiff had of the outcome of the hearing.” (*Id.*, pp. 10-15).

Defendant filed a response to both of Plaintiff’s November 8, 2019 filings, countering Plaintiff’s arguments, clarifying the relevant discovery chronology, and pointing out the intentional and misleading “cropping” of the Twitter posts by Plaintiff’s counsel. (Defendant’s Replies).

The parties were heard on December 5, 2019 by Judge Hood. Plaintiff’s counsel enlisted two new attorneys, Ronald Richter and Eric Bland, of Bland Richter, LLP, to argue their case to Judge Hood.<sup>17</sup> Judge Hood pointed out that Mr. Anastopoulo’s affidavit, along with various arguments raised on rehearing, had never been raised previously. (Dec. 5, 2019 Tr. 7:24-8:17; 35:22-38:7). Judge Hood observed that, “[n]ot one single lawyer in the room can tell me why out of the three to four attorneys that are listed on every single filing that they filed none of them could be [at the mediation.]” (Dec. 5, 2019 Tr. 71:10-19). Judge Hood pointed out that Plaintiff had revealed the fact that he had located Alex in response to a direct question from his counsel, “[a]bout Alex and thank God Mr. Jones decided to tell the truth .... But for Mr. Jones telling the truth, on the witness stand in the trial nobody in this room right now would know what the truth is. You know why, because its been hidden. Its been intentionally, strategically and

---

<sup>17</sup> Mr. Richter clarified that they were not entering an appearance for Plaintiff but were appearing solely on behalf of the Anastopoulo Law Firm and its attorneys. (Dec. 5, 2019 Tr. 2:7-13; 43:21-25).

willfully hidden from the other side. Just like the wife’s cousin, intentionally, willfully and strategically hidden from the other side. And we would never know right now that Alex was found and that Alex didn’t see anything but for Mr. Jones telling the truth on the witness stand,” all of which Judge Hood and Mr. Richter agreed was “just shocking” in a civil proceeding. (Dec. 5, 2019 Tr. 72:19-74:4). Mr. Jefferies began to argue that Mr. Bayne had made “absolutely false factual representations ... to the Court,”<sup>18</sup> at which point Judge Hood cautioned him and instructed him to seek the advice of his counsel. In response, Mr. Jefferies dropped this line of argument. (Dec. 5, 2019 Tr. 77:1-22).

The Final Sanctions Order confirmed the prior ruling, with minor changes. The Court granted Defendant’s Motion for Sanctions in full “based on the totality of the circumstances,” including Plaintiff’s “repeated discovery violations and disobedience of court orders,” as well as the ADR violations. The Court specifically found “that Plaintiff’s counsel acted with bad faith, willful disobedience, and gross negligence during this case.” The Court dismissed Plaintiff’s Complaint with prejudice and awarded updated attorney’s costs and fees. (Final Sanctions Order, pp. 1, 23).

### **STANDARD OF REVIEW**

“The selection of a sanction for discovery violations is within the trial court’s discretion,” which will not be disturbed by an appellate court “unless the trial court

---

<sup>18</sup> In addition, Mr. Jefferies mis-represented to the Court that “[t]he first time we heard anything about other witnesses was in the proposed order that Mr. Bayne submitted and I immediately sent an email to the judge and said Judge, and to Mr. Bayne, I don’t think this proposed order comports with Your Honor’s instruction from the bench. At that point, holy cow. It says, disclose all witnesses. That’s what he decided to sign over my objection .... There was no agreement about anyone except for Alex. It wasn’t about these damages witnesses.” (Dec. 5, 2019 Tr. 44:14-45:1). However, Mr. Jefferies’ May 13, 2019 email states quite clearly his understanding “that Plaintiff must comply with [Defendant’s] discovery requests by *identifying known fact witnesses* on or before June 1, 2019. His Honor further instructed that *any known fact witnesses* not disclosed on or before June 1, 2019 could not be called by Plaintiff at trial.” (Email from Lane Jefferies to Brett Bayne, dated May 13, 2019) (emphases added).

abused its discretion.” *Griffin Grading & Clearing, Inc. v. Tire Serv. Equip. Mfg. Co.*, 334 S.C. 193, 198, 511 S.E.2d 716, 718 (Ct. App. 1999). “The burden is on the appealing party to show the trial court abused its discretion in imposing sanctions for failing to comply with a discovery order.” *QZO, Inc. v. Moyer*, 358 S.C. 246, 256, 594 S.E.2d 541, 547 (Ct. App. 2004). “An abuse of discretion may be found by this Court where the appellant shows that the conclusion reached by the lower court was without reasonable factual support, resulted in prejudice to the right of appellant, and, therefore, amounted to an error of law.” *Davis v. Parkview Apts.*, 409 S.C. 266, 282, 762 S.C.2d 535, 543-544 (2014). South Carolina appellate courts “have generally upheld the trial court’s decision to use dismissal as a sanction ... when there was evidence of bad faith, misconduct, willful disobedience, or a callous disregard for the rights of other litigants.” *Rickerson v. Karl*, 412 S.C. 215, 221, 770 S.E.2d 767, 771 (Ct. App. 2015).

## **ARGUMENTS**

At the outset, a significant portion of Plaintiff’s argument – regarding alleged misrepresentations, distortions and/or false narratives allegedly advanced by Defense counsel – is not preserved for appellate review. Plaintiff’s argument is also meritless, as the Final Sanctions Order is supported by, not only reasonable but overwhelming evidence of Plaintiff’s repeated discovery abuses, failure to comply with orders and mis-statements by Plaintiff’s counsel to the Court.

### **I. Plaintiff’s arguments regarding alleged “mis-statements of fact” are not preserved for appellate review.<sup>19</sup>**

---

<sup>19</sup> This includes, but is not limited to, all of issue No. 1 to the extent it relates to alleged “mis-statements of fact,” and the following portions of Appellant’s Brief: the allegation that “Respondent unfairly portrayed Mr. Jones’ inability to identify the witnesses as a willful refusal to identify the witnesses” (App. Br. p. 3); argument that “Respondent’s counsel began to weave a false narrative of repetitive discovery violations by Mr. Jones and his counsel” (*Id.* p. 13); alleged “false narrative” stated to Judge Couch (*Id.* pp. 15-16); alleged “mis-statements, as provided to

Plaintiff's Brief is permeated by allegations that Defense counsel somehow "transform[ed] this litigation from a simple wreck case into a campaign to secure sanctions," by "weav[ing] a false narrative of repetitive discovery violations by Mr. Jones and his counsel," and "blatantly" distorting Plaintiff's testimony, (App. Br. p. 13, 15; *see also* footnote 2, *above*). However, none of these allegations is preserved for appellate review and, moreover, none of these allegations is true.

The first time Plaintiff challenged the veracity of any of Defense counsel's arguments or statements to the Circuit Court was in his November 8, 2019 Plaintiff's Sanctions Motion and Motion to Reconsider. Apparently recognizing he faces an insurmountable preservation hurdle, Plaintiff now suggests, incorrectly, that he "sought to correct numerous unsupported factual statements" in Judge Couch's July 3, 2019 Order. (App. Br. p. 19). While Plaintiff did assert that there was *insufficient* evidence – *i.e.*, only argument of counsel – to support the various bulleted statements taken from the July 3, 2019 Order, he did not assert or even suggest that those findings were incorrect or based on alleged misrepresentations by Defense counsel. (Motion to Alter/Amend, pp. 4-5). And, as noted above, Plaintiff has not appealed either Judge Couch's July 3, 2019 Order or his July 24, 2019 Order and, as such, the findings and conclusions in those

---

Judge Couch by Respondent's counsel" and the "chart" purportedly comparing Plaintiff's deposition to Judge Couch's Order (*Id.* pp. 19-20); alleged "mis-statements" made by Defense counsel to Judge Lee (*Id.* pp. 21-22); discussion of alleged "fictitious recitation of the case history" presented to Judge Manning (*Id.* pp. 24-25); alleged "mis-statements to the court" and Defense counsel's purported "penchant for embellishment [which] infected the prior orders on which Respondent relied to weave a fictitious and unsupported tale" (*Id.* pp. 30-31); argument that the Final Sanctions Order was "shaped entirely by Respondent's false narrative of the facts and history of this case" (*Id.* pp. 33-34); allegation of "erroneous contentions advanced by Respondent [that] were adopted by" Judge Benjamin and Judge Couch in their orders that "form the foundation of Respondent's discovery abuse false narrative" (*Id.* p. 37 (this argument unpreserved for the additional reason that Plaintiff did not appeal any of Judge Benjamin or Judge Couch's orders)); and, allegations of "subterfuge" on the part of Defense counsel (*Id.* p. 38).

Orders are the law of this case. *E.g., Atlantic Coast Builders & Contrs., LLC v. Lewis*, 398 S.C. 323, 329, 730 S.E.2d 282, 285 (2012) (“an unappealed ruling, right or wrong, is the law of the case”); *see also Davis*, 409 S.C. at 280-281, 762 S.E.2d at 543 (finding earlier discovery orders that were not appealed “are not before us for consideration” and which, “[r]ight or wrong, ... form the law of the case”).<sup>20</sup> Judge Couch’s unappealed findings and conclusions in his July 3, 2019 and July 24, 2019 Orders are set forth and substantively relied on in the Final Sanctions Order at pages 7-10 and pages 17-20. It is patently obvious that Plaintiff did not note or present the alleged “discrepancies” between

---

<sup>20</sup> This includes, but is not limited to, the findings that Plaintiff:

has consistently referenced an individual who remains unidentified, yet, according to Plaintiff, witnessed the accident. According to Plaintiff, this individual is his wife’s cousin. Plaintiff has admitted he has spoken to this individual and this individual has come to his house after the accident. Plaintiff represents he did not disclose this individual because she did not want to be involved in the case. However, Plaintiff seeks to rely on testimony or inferences arising from this individual, as they allegedly were operating the vehicle in front of Defendant immediately prior to the accident, according to Plaintiff they observed the accident, and according to Plaintiff they spoke with Plaintiff about the accident at a later date.

It is apparent that Plaintiff has failed to fully comply with the discovery requests of Defendant. Specifically, Plaintiff has failed to identify in full persons sought by Defendant in discovery while simultaneously seeking to introduce these unidentified witnesses’ statements about the accident.

This action has been pending since March 16, 2018. This matter is currently scheduled to be heard at trial the week of July 8, 2019. Plaintiff has introduced evidence of these witnesses and admitted he has known about them for nearly two years.

(July 3, 2019 Order). It also includes findings that “Plaintiff took no issue with the June 1, 2019 deadline and has not disputed that he fully understood the nature of the deadline”; that, although Plaintiff provided the names of two witnesses on July 5, 2019, he did not provide any contact information and “Plaintiff’s counsel continued to refuse to give the requested [contact] information. Plaintiff’s counsel has not contested this representation or disputed his continued failure to comply with the rules of discovery or the orders of this court”; that Plaintiff’s counsel clearly and unambiguously agreed to the penalty of barring witnesses not identified by June 1, 2019; and that “Plaintiff’s counsel did not take any exception with the recitation of facts or the sequence of events that bought [the parties] before this court for Defendant’s second Motion to Compel .... When directly asked by this court why discovery was grossly overdue, Plaintiff’s counsel did not contest the previous several minutes of recitaiton [sic] of facts or any of the contest of the pleadings, motions, memorandums, etc. A review of the transcript shows there was not a single objection made to any of the facts as asserted.” (July 24, 2019 Order).

his deposition testimony and Judge Couch's July 3, 2019 Order to the Court in either his Motion to Alter/Amend or in argument before Judge Lee. Instead, Mr. Jefferies simply argued, "We disagreed with what the Judge's instructions were. The judge instructed Defense counsel to prepare a proposed order stating certain things. We disagreed that that was the correct ruling, and Plaintiff filed a Rule 59." (July 8, 2019 Tr. 6:10-13).

Plaintiff's counsel simply did not raise any of the alleged misstatements referenced in his Brief during argument before Judge Couch, Judge Lee, Judge Manning or at any point prior to his Sanctions Motion and Motion to Reconsider. While Mr. Jefferies made a general statement to Judge Lee that he "would disagree with a lot of what Mr. Bayne had to say," he continued "but we don't need to go into all the unsupported factual elements and – and things that he's raised because none of it's relevant to the issue before Your Honor." (*Id.* 29:11-15). Such a generalized objection is insufficient to preserve an argument for later appeal, *Busillo v. City of N. Charleston*, 404 S.C. 604, 608, 745 S.E.2d 142, 145 (Ct. App. 2013) (a general objection "does not preserve any argument for appeal because such a general statement does not bring the specific grounds for the objection to the attention of the trial court"), particularly where, as is the case here, the party insists the issue is not relevant. Indeed, the preservation rule "serves as a keen incentive for a party to prepare a case thoroughly. It prevents a party from keeping an ace card up his sleeve – intentionally or by chance – in the hope that an appellate court will accept that ace card and, via a reversal, give him another opportunity to prove his case." *I'On, L.L.C. v. Town of Mt. Pleasant*, 338 S.C. 406, 526 S.E.2d 716, 725 (2000), citing *Brown v. Singletary*, 226 S.C. 482, 484, 85 S.E.2d 738 (1955) for the

proposition that a “party may not neglect or ignore vices in the trial, then expect to assert those vices on appeal in case of disappointment at trial.”

The indisputable fact remains that Plaintiff’s counsel failed to raise any specific objection to Defense counsel’s recitation or characterization of the facts relating to discovery issues during any of the motions hearings – until he was seeking rehearing.<sup>21</sup> It is well-established that a litigant cannot raise an issue for the first time on rehearing. *See, e.g., Dixon v. Dixon*, 362 S.C. 388, 399, 608 S.E.2d 849, 854 (2005) (an issue raised for the first time in a post-trial motion is not preserved for appellate review); *Poch v. Bayshore Concrete Prods./South Carolina*, 386 S.C. 13, 31, 686 S.E.2d 689, 699 (Ct. App. 2009) (“[a] party cannot use a motion to reconsider, alter or amend a judgment to present an issue that could have been raised prior to the judgment but was not”).

**II. The Final Sanctions Order is reasonably supported by the Record below.**

This Court should affirm the Final Sanctions Order, as it is not only reasonably supported, but is overwhelmingly supported by the Record. Indeed, Plaintiff’s argument essentially boils down to an assertion that every judge who has addressed this discovery issue has been hoodwinked by Defense counsel. Plaintiff asserts that “the circuit court’s view of this matter was shaped entirely by Respondent’s false narrative of the facts and

---

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